



Monday, 5 October 2009

at 9.00 am

in Committee Room B, Civic Centre, Hartlepool

MEMBERS: CABINET:

The Mayor, Stuart Drummond

Councillors Hall, Hargreaves, Hill, Jackson, Payne, and Tumilty

- 1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
- 2. TO RECEIVE ANY DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST BY MEMBERS
- 3. MINUTES

To receive the Record of Decision in respect of the meeting held on 21 September 2009

4. BUDGET AND POLICY FRAM EWORK

No items

5. **KEY DECISIONS**

- 5.1 Older People's Housing, Care and Support Strategy *Director of Child and Adult Services and Director of Regeneration and Neighbourhoods*
- 5.2 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) *Director of Child and Adult Services*
- 5.3 New Deal for Communities Succession Strategy Assistant Director (Planning and Economic Development) and New Deal for Communities Programme Director

6. OTHER ITEMS REQUIRING DECISION

6.1 Children In Need, North East Event at Hartlepool Maritime Experience on 20 November 2009 – *The Mayor*

7. ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION / INFORMATION

No items

8. REPORTS FROM OVERVIEW OF SCRUTINY FORUMS

No items

EXEMPT ITEMS

Under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the paragraphs referred to below of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

9. EXEMPT ITEMS REQUIRING DECISION

9.1 Senior Management Review 2008 – Chief Personnel Officer and Chief Solicitor (Para 2)

CABINET REPORT

5 October 2009



Report of: Director of Child and Adult Services and Director of

Regeneration and Neighbourhoods

Subject: OLDER PEOPLE'S HOUSING, CARE AND

SUPPORT STRATEGY

SUMMARY

PURPOSE OF REPORT

To seek Cabinet's approval of the Older People's Housing Care and Support Strategy and agreement to implement the recommendations of the Strategy.

2. SUMMARY OF CONTENTS

The Council's former Adult and Community Services and Regeneration and Planning departments commissioned Peter Fletcher Associates (PFA) to produce a report that addressed:

- An older people's housing strategy, based on a strong older people centred vision, in line with the Government strategic guidance which reflects the situation of the wider older population as well as the housing, care and support needs of more vulnerable older people
- A commissioning strategy or plan which builds on the housing strategy, and links across housing, social care and health, as well as the wider agenda for older people identified in the Borough's overall Older People's Strategy

3. RELEVANCE TO CABINET

Recommendations will affect the whole of Hartlepool

4. TYPE OF DECISION

Key – test ii

5. DECISION MAKING ROUTE

Cabinet - 5 October 2009

6. DECISION(S) REQUIRED

Approval of the Older Peoples Housing, Care and Support Strategy and agreement to implement the recommendations of the Strategy

Report of: Director of Child and Adult Services and Director of

Regeneration and Neighbourhoods

Subject: OLDER PEOPLE'S HOUSING, CARE AND

SUPPORT STRATEGY

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To seek Cabinet's approval of the Older People's Housing Care and Support Strategy and agreement to implement the recommendations of the Strategy.

2 BACKGROUND

- 2.1 It is predicted that the number of older people in Hartlepool will rise from 15,100 in 2010 to 20,100 in 2025. The sharpest rise proportionally will be in those older people aged 85 and over where the numbers will increase by 75%, from 1600 in 2010 to 2,900 in 2025. This group has traditionally been the heaviest users of care and support. It is therefore vital that an integrated plan was developed to address the pressures that this demographic shift in the population will cause.
- 2.2 The Council has already identified older people as a key strategic priority for Hartlepool through its overall Older People's Strategy, which is based around a citizenship approach towards planning for the social inclusion and well-being of the older population as a whole.
- 2.3 The Older People's Housing Care and Support Strategy contributes to this wider vision and to delivery of healthy communities and older people theme of the LAA. It also addresses central government requirements around older people, engaging them as partners and developing a broad based strategy and a broad range of services.

3 DEVELOPING THE STRATEGY

- 3.1 Peter Fletcher Associates (PFA) used a combination of research, analysis and surveys to understand the current supply and likely demand for accommodation and services for older people in Hartlepool. They also ran focus groups with older people and ran three development workshops with representatives from agencies, local communities and older people.
- 3.2 A Steering Group was also established that included representatives from the Council, Hartlepool Primary Care Trust, Housing Hartlepool and the 50+ Forum.

3.3 In addition to local intelligence, PFA also considered the national context which increasingly is focussing on promoting the independence and well-being of older people, joining up housing, health and social care services and widening service choice and flexibility.

4 KEY ELEMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE OLDER PEOPLE'S HOUSING CARE AND SUPPORT STRATEGY

- 4.1 Four key priorities for the Older People's Housing, Care and Support Strategy have been identified:
 - Developing an overall Whole Systems Approach linking with the wider Older People's Strategy; moving away from a welfare approach to an empowering approach for all older people towards universal rights and citizenship, based on choice, responsibility and control over their lives in older age
 - Using the planning system to drive changes in the housing market
 - Rebalancing the specialist Accommodation System
 - Supporting older people at home
- 4.2 The report has 21 recommendations in total (see **Appendix 1**) covering issues in nine major areas:
 - commissioning and planning processes,
 - information and advice,
 - building planning and development,
 - specialist accommodation system,
 - integrated teams,
 - specific user groups,
 - floating support and other services,
 - funding
 - preventative and low level support.
- 4.3 This latter area brings into the larger strategy the work initially done separately on low level support strategy

5 PROGRESS TO DATE

- 5.1 Significant progress has been made against a number of the recommendations set out in the Strategy and a brief summary is set out below:
 - The "Hartlepool Now" information service is operational and is being developed to enable people in Hartlepool to access appropriate information maintain their independence and will actively support the Putting People First Agenda.

- Hartfields Retirement Village, an extra care housing scheme, is now complete offering 242 supported accommodation units together with a range of facilities (e.g. restaurant, gym, spa pool, shop, day centre and GP surgery). These facilities are not restricted to the residents of Hartfields and are accessible to the wider community.
- A further joint bid to the Dept of Health was successful and a new extra care scheme involving Housing Hartlepool, Hartlepool Borough Council and Hartlepool PCT is being built at Orwell walk in Rift House ward. This development will provide another 60 units of purpose built accommodation for those over 55 years old.
- In addition to the new build developments, the Council and Housing Hartlepool are developing extra care within existing older people's sheltered care housing schemes at Bamburgh, Albany and Richard Courts.
- An assistive technology Telecare system is well established, offering remote alarmed support to individuals, assisting them to maintain independence in their own homes when they would otherwise be more vulnerable living in the community. The Telecare system includes a personal response by trained staff 24/7, 365 days a year, should the need arise.
- A 2 year 'Telehealth' pilot scheme is also being developed in conjunction with the PCT, funded through practice based commissioning, initially focusing on Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease.
- Supporting People funding is being focussed more on 'floating support'
 to maintain peoples' tenancies and the development of joint contacts
 with adult social care to provide a continuum of support from low level
 to higher personal care needs.
- Joint commissioning arrangements for all adult user groups have been established between the Council and NHS Hartlepool (Hartlepool PCT).
- Integrated teams of social workers, occupational therapists and community nursing staff from the provider NHS foundation trusts [previously PCT staff] are also now in place across the Borough.
- Intermediate Care support has also been adjusted, including a contract for rehabilitation beds in a residential care home, to maximise impact and ensure as many people as possible receive 'reablement' and are able to return to independence following illness.

6 NEXT STEPS

- 6.1 While several of the recommendations listed in the Strategy have been actioned, further progress has been constrained by structural changes in stakeholder organisations and uncertainty over future public sector funding.
- The recent reorganisation of the Council's departmental structure provides an opportunity to review the recommendations of the Older Peoples Housing, Care and Support Strategy and to consider whether the priorities within the action plan can be achieved and are affordable.

6.3 If the recommendations of the Strategy are to be realised it will be essential that a corporate approach is taken, together with support from other stakeholders.

7 RECOMMENDATION

7.1 Members are asked to approve the Older People's Housing Care and Support Strategy and agree to implement the recommendations of the Strategy.

Housing, Care & Support Strategy Recommendations

1.1 Whole system planning

Hartlepool should adopt the whole system planning framework as an active tool for strategic and service planning in Hartlepool. Specifically the following should take place

- map services on a borough wide and local basis to see what the whole system can offer for older people
- This should include low-level support services
- the strategy should be explicitly linked to the overall Older People's Strategy for Hartlepool

1.2 Joint Commissioning

Develop further a joint commissioning approach and the structures and funding to match

2.1 Establish an information and advice service

Set up an information, advice and advocacy service that will provide comprehensive information about the range of services available and assist people to access those services. The service should:

- incorporate a w ebsite based information system that can act as a resource for both older people and staff.
- be complemented by a programme to improve the provision of information through existing services by linking these services more effectively and ensuring that staff are properly trained in information giving.

2.2 Link access and assessment

Agree a process for linking up access and assessment routes, and in particular FACS and Supporting People. To have better systems in place to define need and match this to provision across health, Adult Care Services and housing and signpost older people to the appropriate service

3.1 Extra Care

Develop up to 150 places of extra care housing.

Stimulate the private market to develop assisted living and extra care housing schemes for outright sale and shared ownership.

Develop a flexible 'virtual' extra care approach for older people living in ordinary housing

3.2 Sheltered Housing

Develop an initial 5 year plan to improve the sheltered housing stock by reducing the number of bedsits by up to 100 units

Rebalance the sheltered stock and housing and housing support service, through:

- Changing the service model in selected existing: schemes which show high dependency levels and service use to deliver an extra care type service
- A growth in the level of sheltered housing for sale and shared ownership

Hartlepool Borough Council

- A growth in the provision of floating support for older people w ho w ant to stay in general needs housing by around 200 initially
- Setting up a cross provider group to develop a common and consistent approach and a clear vision and role for sheltered housing

3.3 Floating support

Develop models of floating support, particularly for home owners, older people with dementia, carers and people with short term needs for support by developing locality team approaches which draw in both sheltered and mobile warden services

3.4 Out-of-hours services

Take further steps to create a comprehensive and integrated out of hours service covering health, social care and housing

3.5 Community alarm service

Set up a task group to review the future commissioning requirements for community alarm services in Hartlepool alongside other out of hours services and the development of assistive technology

3.6 Disabled Facilities Grant

- 1. Provide more clear and simple information in as many locations and formats as possible
- 2. Allocate an OT to Housing Hartlepool
- 3. Look at transfer of information and at how this can affect the timescales for adaptations
- 4. Introduce self assessment and improve opportunities and support for people to fund their own adaptations and/or equipment
- 5. Introduce 'off the shelf' quotes for common adaptations such as level access show er
- 6. Agree SLAs between services/ agencies and also between agencies and contractors
- 7. Develop a local Disability Living Centre as a point where people can try and buy equipment, obtain advice on solutions and funding and can access services.
- 8. Examine the potential for development of Home Improvement Agency services to play a wider service role examine the potential of a pan Teesside service to create further development capacity

3.7 Integrated teams

Ensure housing input into the older people's integrated teams. This should include not just allocations but also the role of housing support services alongside home care and community health services to build the virtual team approach proposed in the 'virtual extra care model

3.8 Intermediate care

Consider moving to commissioning from a smaller number of establishments – perhaps on a locality basis and more closely integrated with locality teams.

Plan to commission non bed based services.

Look at the potential of extra care housing based beds for intermediate care.

Review model of intermediate care once extra care developments are on-line and their impact can be assessed

4.1 Dementia

Develop a broader approach to housing and service options for people with dementia, including:

- use of extra care housing;
- a better balance betw een residential and nursing home care; support into sheltered housing and warden training
- piloting small group living models;
- developing community support and specialist home care
- develop broader training programme across providers in a range of settings

4.2 Learning Disability

Plan for the growing number of older people with a learning disability through the use of extra care and sheltered housing, and considering other small group living models in the future

4.3 BME Communities

Consider developing initiatives on a Tees Valley wide basis to improve access and lettings to sheltered housing for black and minority ethnic elders' in the Borough

4.4 Long Term Conditions

Include housing and support services in the planning and delivery of support for people with chronic, long-term conditions in the community.

5. Funding

Reinvest funding from re-configuring the sheltered housing service and reducing residential care home placements into Extra Care provision

Capital funding through the Housing Corporation, the Council's own capital receipts, Department of Health or Regeneration funding could be identified to fund the capital costs, in addition to stimulating the private market

6.1 Preventative Support

Build stronger systems for the effective delivery of preventative services which would include:

- Mapping the full range of preventative services
- Identifying the barriers to expanding preventative services and finding solutions to overcome these barriers building on initiatives such as Connected Care and the development of integrated services across the 3 service areas
- Secure long-term funding for preventative services
- **6.2** Commission a targeted support service for older people w ho are unable to carry out the majority of household tasks and are assessed as being at risk of losing their independence
- **6.3** Encourage current and potential providers to work together to improve efficiency and services.

CABINET REPORT

5 October 2009



Report of: Director of Child and Adult Services

Subject: JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT (JSNA)

SUMMARY

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

The Purpose of this report is to present to Cabinet the refreshed 09/10 version of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA).

2. SUMMARY OF CONTENTS

The report will remind Cabinet about the purpose of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment; the content of the document; process and consultation undertaken to refresh the document and how it will be used across agencies to commission services and address priorities.

3. RELEVANCE TO CABINET

This is the principal joint needs assessment that should be used by all agencies to inform the identification of priorities and subsequent commissioning of services, to improve the health and well being of the population.

4. TYPE OF DECISION

Key Test ii

5. DECISION MAKING ROUTE

Cabinet - 5 October 2009

DECISION(S) REQUIRED 6.

Agree the content of the document and endorse the use of the Joint 6.1 Strategic Needs Assessment in commissioning services.

Report of: Director of Child and Adult Services

Subject: JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT (JSNA)

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present to Cabinet the refreshed 09/10 version of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. The report will remind Cabinet of the importance of the JSNA across agencies, as well as describe the content and the process and consultation undertaken to refresh the documents. The paper will highlight the significance of JSNA in the commissioning of services to met the needs and priorities identified through the process.

2. BACKGROUND

- 2.1 The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment brings together councils, NHS and other partners to develop common priorities for the improvement of local health and wellbeing. The process of undertaking the JSNA encourages partners to work together to generate a shared picture of local needs, and then design systematic interventions that will meet these needs and produce better outcomes for local health.
- 2.2 The process of developing the JSNA is to look at the intelligence data of a particular area or population and then identify gaps. From this partners identify priorities to address those gaps over the short, medium and longer term.
- 2.3 The first JSNA outputs for the Local Authority, Primary Care Trust and partners in Hartlepool were published in September 2008. For each area there is:
 - a reference document,
 - a summary document, and
 - additional documents that provide the national context for JSNA.
- 2.4 The process of refresh for 2009 has been to review the content of all of the above and reflect on progress and identify new areas for consideration and priorities for joint action.

3 CONTENT OF JSNA

- 3.1 There are several subject areas within the JSNA. Each section considers the following for a particular subject area. This includes:-
 - What are the priority needs of the population?
 - Summary of selected indicators
 - What strategies, plans, policies already exist?
 - What are the implications for commissioning? In the next 3-5 years?
- 3.2 The subject areas covered include:
 - Children and Young People's general health
 - Children and Young People's positive contribution
 - Transition years
 - Adults
 - Older People
 - Opportunities for better health (education, employment, reducing poverty)
 - Choices that threaten health (smoking, physical activity, nutrition, drugs & alcohol, sexual health)
 - Housing
 - Environment
 - Transport
 - Community Safety
 - Oral Health
 - Voluntary and community sector
 - Sickness
 - Learning Disabilities
 - Physical Disabilities
 - Mental Health
 - Health and Social Care
 - End of Life
 - Autism
 - Carers
 - Dementia
 - Safeguarding
 - Diversity
 - Economic Development
- 3.3 The technical document of the JSNA has approximately 15 appendices that provide a range of data and public health intelligence information from a range of sources. This information includes health profiles, demographics, and prevalence modelling and equity profiles. This information is critical to understanding needs and therefore priorities for commissioning.

4. PROCESS AND CONSULTATION

5.2

4.1 The process of developing and consulting on the content of the JSNA has taken on many forms. Consultation on the content of each section and identification of priorities of the JSNA has been through already existing planning and commissioning teams; partnerships and associated theme groups; and the already established mechanisms through LINk.

4.3 The JSNA is an ever evolving process and so there is ongoing opportunity for patients and the public to comment and feed in their views.

5. USING JSNA TO COMMISSION SERVICES

Cabinet – 5 October 2009

- 5.1 The JSNA has created a shared view of needs. Therefore it must be used across and within agencies to inform the commissioning of services. Commissioning services should be needs led and evidence based and therefore the JSNA provides a comprehensive document where needs of various groups can be viewed collectively and systematically.
- 5.2 Partner agencies are required to use the JSNA as an integral part of the commissioning process. For example, the Primary Care Trust (PCT) as part of the requirement to demonstrate they are 'World Class Commissioners' must show that they understand the needs of the local population and systematically commission services to address needs. The JSNA is a major contributor to that process.
- 5.3 The Local Authority is also expected to use the JSNA across all levels within the organisation to understand needs, identify priorities and subsequently commission services. The awareness of JSNA will be continuously raised across all relevant functions.
- 5.4 The value of the summary document might be best appreciated in communicating with frontline staff and local people. This document pulls together all the key priorities in a way that is clear and concise. The awareness of this information is also key, so frontline staff are aware of what we are aiming to achieve and therefore provide solutions and make changes that may bring about improvements in health and well being.

6. RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1 Cabinet is asked to note the content of the document and endorse the use of the joint strategic needs assessment in commissioning services.

CABINET REPORT

5th October 2009



Report of: Assistant Director (Planning and Economic

Development) and New Deal for Communities

Programme Director

Subject: NEW DEAL FOR COMMUNITIES SUCCESSION

STRATEGY

SUMMARY

PURPOSE OF REPORT

This report seeks approval of the New Deal for Communities (NDC) Succession Strategy, the Council being the accountable body for the NDC partnership and its programme and clearly a key interested party in sustaining the regeneration of the NDC area after the NDC funding ends.

2. SUMMARY OF CONTENTS

This report refers to the importance of ensuring the sustainability of regeneration activity in the New Deal for Communities area after the end of the ten year funding period in March, 2011. The Department for Communities and Local Government requires the submission of a formal Succession Strategy by the end of October, 2009, with formal endorsement by the local authority. A draft copy of the Succession Strategy is appended to the report, which highlights the Strategy's key strands:

- 1) a commitment to continued neighbourhood management
- 2) the establishment of the NDC Trust as a successor body
- 3) ongoing work to expand the capacity of key voluntary organisations to play their part in ongoing regeneration.

3. RELEVANCE TO CABINET

The sustainable long term regeneration of the New Deal for Communities area is critical to the ongoing regeneration of Hartlepool.

4. TYPE OF DECISION

Key, test (ii) applies, in that the Succession Strategy will have a significant impact on communities living or working in an area comprising more than one ward.

5. DECISION MAKING ROUTE

Cabinet, 5th October, 2009.

6. DECISION(S) REQUIRED

That Cabinet endorses the NDC Succession Strategy and authorises the Chief Executive to sign off the final version for submission to DCLG, after consultation with the Mayor on any further amendments.

Report of: Assistant Director (Planning and Economic

Development) and New Deal for Communities

Programme Director

Subject: NEW DEAL FOR COMMUNITIES SUCCESSION

STRATEGY

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 This report seeks approval of the New Deal for Communities (NDC)
Succession Strategy, the Council being the accountable body for the NDC
partnership and its programme and clearly a key interested party in sustaining
the regeneration of the NDC area after the NDC funding ends.

2. BACKGROUND

- 2.1 The ten year NDC funding period ends on 31st March, 2011. The programme has already secured a number of significant positive outcomes across the full range of its themes, with more projected over the remaining 18 months. Progress has been achieved as a result of not only the NDC funding, but also matching funding attracted to the area and sustained development of partnership working involving all sectors.
- 2.2 Perhaps the key underlying principle of the NDC programme, however, has been the need to ensure that regeneration is sustainable beyond the end of the dedicated NDC funding. This principle has been consistently considered both at the programme-wide and at the project-specific level as the programme has been developed, with relevant involvement by residents and service providers. Now, however, the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) requires the submission of a formal Succession Strategy by the end of October, 2009, with a requirement that the Council confirms its acceptance of the strategy in the form of sign-off by the Chief Executive.

3. NDC SUCCESSION STRATEGY

- 3.1 Attached as **Appendix 1** is the draft Hartlepool NDC Succession Strategy. As indicated above, planning for post-NDC has been ongoing for some time now and the Strategy reflects much of this work. Members will note the three strands of the strategy:
 - 1. neighbourhood management and community empowement;
 - 2. the successor body the NDC Trust;
 - 3. building the capacity of the voluntary sector.

- 3.2 The Strategy is self-explanatory, but briefly, in relation to these three strands:
 - 1. the Strategy recognises the approach to neighbourhood action planning and neighbourhood management for the NDC area which serves to deliver joined-up services which are sensitive to local issues. This approach is now well-established within the Council and other service providers, not just in the NDC area but across all of Hartlepool's neighbourhood renewal areas, as an aspect of mainstream service delivery.
 - 2. the NDC Trust was established in 2008 as the eventual successor body to the NDC partnership, with Hartlepool Revival Limited as the asset-managing and trading subsidiary. The Trust has deliberately been established on a relatively modest scale, with a view to minimising the risk of over-extending itself in financial terms. It will liaise closely with resident organisations and service providers to maximise its effectiveness in helping to shape ongoing regeneration. The Trust's business plan will be appended to the Succession Strategy.
 - 3. a small number of key voluntary organisations have received significant financial and in-kind support to expand their capacity to contribute to ongoing regeneration.
- 3.3 Appendices to the Strategy include a risk register and a "project sustainability matrix" which indicates the sustainability of each individual NDC-funded project. The latter indicates that for the great majority of projects there is a defined arrangement for the continuation of those projects for which there is continuing need, whilst for others the relevant parties are actively in discussion. A copy of these appendices is available in the Members' room or on the www.hartlepool.gov.uk website.
- 3.4 Work on the Succession Strategy is close to being finalised, but there is a national meeting of the NDC partnerships, the accountable bodies and DCLG on 9th October, which may influence the finalisation of the Strategy. It is not anticipated, however, that there will be any fundamental changes to the Strategy at this stage.

4. **RECOMMENDATION**

4.1 That Cabinet endorses the NDC Succession Strategy and authorises the Chief Executive to sign off the final version for submission to DCLG, after consultation with the Mayor on any further amendments.



Hartlepool New Deal for Communities

SUCCESSION STRATEGY







HARTLEPOOL NDC SUCCESSION STRATEGY

CONTENTS

1. Introduction - Why a Succession Strategy?	Page 3
2. The Hartlepool NDC area	Page 3-4
3. Summary of NDC programme progress	Page 4-10
4. NDC Succession Strategy (a) Neighbourhood Management and Community Empowerment (b) NDC Successor Body – Hartlepool NDC Trust (c) Building the capacity of the voluntary sector	Page 10-14 Page 10-11 Page 11-12 Page 13-14
 (a) Appropriate outcomes (b) Community Empow erment (c) Project Mainstreaming / Sustainability (d) Safeguarding Assets (e) Governance arrangements (f) Succession Strategy Risk Management (g) Local Authority and Key Partners Support (h) Successor Body Financial Viability (i) State Aid and other issues 	Page 14-18 Page 14-15 Page 15 Page 16 Page 16-17 Page 17 Page 17 Page 17 Page 18 Page 18
6. Conclusion	Page 18

7. Appendices

- 1. NDC Neighbourhood Action Plan
- 2. NDC Neighbourhood Panel Terms of Reference
- 3. Hartlepool Borough Council Draft Neighbourhood Management Strategy
- 4. Hartlepool NDC Trust Business Plan
- 5. Hartlepool NDC Trust Ltd Memorandum and Articles of Association
- 6. Hartlepool Revival Ltd Memorandum and Articles of Association
- 7. Succession Strategy Risk Management Register
- 8. Project Sustainability Matrix
- 9. Successor Body Asset Register
- 10. Maps of Existing NDC area and "Succession Area"
- 11. NDC Programme Action Plan
- 12. Update on the NDC Community Housing Plan
- 13. Key partners endorsement

1. Why do we need a Succession Strategy?

People involved in Hartlepool NDC have always been aware that the 10 year NDC programme should not be seen as an end in itself.

The Delivery Plan, written in March 2001, describes how... "We look upon the NDC programme as an exceptional opportunity to begin a process of community led regeneration which will endure beyond the ten years of this delivery plan."

The plan clearly set out the intentions to... "Look carefully at the option of establishing a community led Trust that could manage facilities, deliver services and pursue funding opportunities... after the end of the NDC programme" and to "engage in developing the process of Neighbourhood Management as early as possible."

The plan goes on to set out how our proposals for capacity building will ensure that the experience and skills we are developing will inform the process of Neighbourhood Management and lay a firm foundation... to take forward the regeneration of the area through the New Deal for Communities programme and beyond!

The awareness was always there that the NDC programme, given its scale and emphasis on resident led regeneration, represented a real opportunity to develop new ways of working that would sustain and continue regeneration post 2011.

As soon as the Partnership's Community Housing Plan was nearing completion in 2003 work was well underway to establish a new resident led company, Hartlepool Revival Ltd, to deliver the Housing Plan and act as a successor body which could hold assets and develop services on behalf of the local community.

Hartlepool Revival has subsequently amended its constitution to become a wholly owned trading subsidiary of the Hartlepool NDC Trust as set out in the business plan (Appendix 4) and Memorandum and Articles (Appendices 5&6).

Of course, apart from building on the success, impetus and capacity created by the 10 year NDC Regeneration Programme, the other obvious reason for a succession strategy is that there remain significant needs in the community. Progress has been made in reducing disadvantage and improving conditions and services across theme areas, but challenges remain in all. These are perhaps most acute in relation to health, worklessness and the need to continue delivery of the Community Housing Plan.

This succession strategy sets out how these challenges will be approached. Three discrete but complementary strands will continue to address identified needs through a now well-embedded town-wide Neighbourhood Management strategy and Neighbourhood Action Planning (NAP) process (see appendix 1); through the NDC Trust; and through the increased capacity of key voluntary and community sector organisations.

2. Hartlepool NDC Area

The Hartlepool NDC area is characterised by the grid pattern of small Victorian terraced housing that were developed as the 'New Town' of West Hartlepool expanded westwards from the docks and old town centre at the end of the 19th century.

There was a great deal of consensus in Hartlepool nine years ago that Central Hartlepool should be the focus for NDC regeneration. At that time the boundary of the area had to be constrained to ensure that total household numbers were in line with existing NDC programme guidance. The NDC succession area encompasses a slightly wider definition as outlined in Appendix 10.

5.3 Appendix 1

The area is made up of a number of neighbourhoods around the commercial areas which, whilst historically having a strong sense of identity and community, had been in a process of serious decline since the 1980's. A combination of severe job losses in steel and heavy industries and a growth of new low budget housing for sale on the outskirts of town, alongside a changing demography and different aspirations, had led to the area not being seen as a 'first step' on the housing ladder, but rather, for some, an area of last resort to rent.

This shift from the predominance of owner occupation to the private rented sector, along with the appearance of large, often irresponsible, occasionally criminal, property management/buy to let companies, during the 1990's, had contributed to increased levels of empty properties, anti social behaviour and crime, identified as a 'spiral of decline' in studies [1,2] commissioned just prior to the start of the NDC Programme.

As the NDC Programme began, the potential for the acceleration of this decline was becoming more evident. The housing studies had predicted that if current trends continued then there would be over 800 empty properties by 2010. House prices were falling dramatically, with some changing hands for 4 figure sums, and some streets were becoming untenable, with some residents who couldn't sell, fleeing the area.

In this context it was no surprise that residents identified the need to arrest this decline as their top priority.

The need for significant intervention in the private housing market in the area informed the strategies of the Partnership in engaging with local residents. The Delivery Plan sets out how an early Partnership Steering Group meeting agreed that "NDC will ensure that the consensus view of residents is paramount to the Housing Strategy for the area."

Whilst the NDC Programme clearly had to set out strategies to "close the gap" in relation to education, employment, crime and health, clearly the emphasis has always fundamentally been on aiming to create a place where people want to live.

Given the nature of the town centre location and the high number and poor quality of private rented houses, the area would be expected to have a higher than average turnover of residents. The aim of the NDC housing strategy has been to stabilise this turnover by increasing the range of housing offered, enhancing the local environment, reducing crime and improving management of the area and private housing, while improving the quality of retained housing.

The National NDC Evaluation Team (led by Sheffield Hallam University) identified the difficulty in capturing regeneration outcomes in areas of high "population churn". (A 2007 report showed that Hartlepool NDC had the seventh highest level of 'churn' amongst the 39 NDC's across England.) Despite that difficulty it has been possible to build a strong body of evidence which is summarised in the next section.

3. NDC Programme Progress to June 2009

The NDC programme has been delivered in line with targets agreed with Government Office and DCLG over the past eight years. The current action plan (Appendix 11) illustrates that of the £53.7m budget; that £49.8m is now spent; £3.782m is approved and funding ongoing projects; £68k is identified for projects still to gain detailed approval and £50k is retained in the programme's 'flexible pot' for contingencies arising from implementation of the succession strategy.

[1] Housing Market Dynamics Study Nathaniel Lichfield & Partners / NEMS Market Research. April 2000

[2] West Central Hartlepool New Deal for Communities Housing Study Final Report. Nathaniel Lichfield & Partners. Dec 2000

Section 4 of this report will identify how the progress identified below will be sustained and built upon, primarily through the Neighbourhood Management / Neighbourhood Action Planning process (see appendices 2 & 3) along with through the other two components of NDC succession. The remainder of this section will first set out a brief summary of the main outcomes of the programme on a theme by theme basis.

3.1 Education Theme

Two new £1m "Learning Centres" have been built onto the two Primary Schools in the area, enabling the development and sustainability of a wide range of extended and community services and activities. Significant resources have been allocated to individual schools to improve attainment of NDC pupils, resulting in the deployment of additional teachers, teaching assistants and learning mentors. Specific projects have addressed school inclusion, primary to secondary school transition, and raising aspirations at Key Stage 4. A Bursary Scheme to help those aged 16+ into training has also been delivered, providing 796 grants to NDC residents for educational and training activities.

NDC investment in the training of NDC residents is reflected in the latest MORI Household survey data, which shows that the proportion of those in the NDC area that have taken part in training or education in the last year (excluding current students) has climbed by 10 percentage points, from 20% in 2002 to 30% in 2008.

In terms of school performance, in 2008 Hartlepool Borough Council supplied two longitudinal reports based on the 'Contextual Value Added' (CVA) scores of NDC and non-NDC pupils from Key Stage 1 to Key Stage 2, and from Key Stage 2 to Key Stage 4. At both stages, NDC pupils are making faster progress than non-NDC pupils in the Borough, and they have also progressed at a greater rate than the national average.

In the earlier age group, NDC pupils that moved from Key Stage 1 in 2004 to Key Stage 2 in 2008 recorded a CVA score of 100.6 compared to non-NDC pupils at 100.4 (national base: 100). In the older age-group, NDC pupils that moved from Key Stage 2 in 2003 to Key Stage 4 in 2008 recorded a CVA score of 1023.1 compared to non-NDC pupils at 1014.8 (national base: 1000)

The most recent evaluation of NDC pupils performance at KS4, (completed in September 2009) has demonstrated that the key measure of attainment, average point score, has seen a significant narrowing of the gap between NDC pupils and pupils across the town as a whole. A 16 percentage point different in 2005/6, narrowed to a 13 point difference in 06/07 and a 7 point difference in 07/08. If this positive trend continues the NDC target of attaining a difference of only 3 percentage points by 2011 is likely to be met.

These (and other) criteria of performance assessment are now integrated into the 'Lifelong Learning and Skills' section of the NDC area Neighbourhood Action Plan (Appendix 1), and they will continue to be monitored and responded to through that medium.

3.2 Employment Theme

Strategies have been delivered to support and develop the industrial estates and commercial street areas. Essentially the strategies have involved building business involvement (e.g. in the process of establishing one of the first Business Improvement Districts on an industrial estate in the country); environmental and general security improvements; and grant support for business security and development.

Specific support has been given to NDC residents to start their own businesses. Job Brokerage services and childcare support have been provided. A construction training project for young people has been developed, linked to the NDC Housing Strategy, and is now to be launched as a Social Enterprise.

In total £2,273,802 of NDC funded grant support has been taken up by 462 businesses. This has resulted in the creation of an estimated 131 direct additional jobs and the enhancement of premises and areas so as to safeguard existing jobs and encourage future job creation. This NDC funding has directly levered in £9,778,354 of private sector funding, £218,928 of European Funding and £174,000 of HBC funding.

Further more the Longhill & Sandgate BID scheme used £149,800 of NDC funding that was complemented by £31,200 of HBC funding and an £85,365 contribution from Tesco to install and commission a 14 camera CCTV system for the estates. The ongoing revenue costs for this system over the next five years will lever in approximately £200,000 from contributions by private sector businesses.

708 NDC Residents have been helped into work and 73 NDC residents have been supported to establish new businesses. Of these, 42 continue to trade.

Recently the NDC has also responded to the national financial position by approving a scheme of 'Back to Work' grants to reduce barriers to employment by bridging the gap between benefit dependency and the receipt of first wages or in-work incentives (i.e. tax credits).

Contrasting somewhat with these successes, the latest MORI survey data shows that the proportion of those NDC residents reporting themselves as 'In Paid Work' is at the same level in 2008 as it was in 2002 (43%). However, the comparable figure for Hartlepool has fallen across the same period by 2 percentage points from 52% to 50%. Although this is not a statistically significant shift, it hints that NDC residents have fared slightly better over this time frame, with the resulting gap having narrowed from 18% down to 14%.

The NDC Neighbourhood Action Plan identifies priority areas for action, aligned with LAA indicators, relating to jobs and the local economy, which will build on the advancements made to date, and which will maintain an ongoing focus on these areas well beyond the lifetime of the NDC Programme. The activities of the NDC Trust will also contribute by furthering employment and training aims.

3.3 Health Theme

The NDC Health Theme Strategy has been largely based on evidence that NDC residents do not access services at a level that would be expected in relation to known health needs in the area.

The cornerstone of NDC's Health Theme programme was originally designed to be the provision of a community-based Healthy Living Centre in the heart of the area, to be built with a £2.5m NDC contribution. However, as project development work was initiated, the opportunity for the new Primary Care Trust to gain alternative (LIFT) funding for such a project became apparent. A new Flagship £19m Health Centre is now under construction and will open in the near future in the very centre of the NDC area.

The LIFT funding has enabled the NDC to use its budget to fund a range of projects that support people, including children and young people, suffering from stress, emotional and mental health problems; that improve access to health and related services; that increase opportunities to participate in sporting activities, and to support people to live independently in their own homes. The Surestart project has also been extended to cover the whole NDC area.

Through Hartlepool MIND's 'Complementary Therapies', 'Mental Health Support Network', and 'Children and Young Person Emotional Well Being' programmes, 1108 NDC Residents

have received support with stress and mental health related problems. 515 NDC residents have been helped to access services through the 'People's Access to Health' project. NDC monitoring data also shows that 1,601 one to one support/therapy sessions have taken place, and over 4,800 NDC resident attendances have been recorded at health awareness training events.

Despite the success of these projects where local evaluation clearly demonstrates the positive impact on beneficiaries, improvements in overall health outcomes have been difficult to identify. For example, although 1,280 NDC residents have attended smoking cessation events, MORI household survey data shows that the proportion of NDC residents reporting that they smoke has increased by 3 percentage points between 2000 and 2008, from 43% to 46%. A further indicator shows that the proportion of residents that report experiencing anxiety, nerves, depression or stress has remained fairly constant (24% in 2000 changing to 26% in 2008).

As with other NDC theme areas, the NDC NAP will ensure that health outcomes are monitored regularly and driven forward as local priorities by ensuring that health services continue to be designed and delivered in accordance with locally identified needs.

3.4 Community Safety Theme

Alongside housing, the top priority for residents was to improve community safety in the area. The NDC strategy concentrated on delivering projects focussed on the three elements of the 'crime triangle', namely, 'Location' (e.g. target hardening, CCTV, Wardens etc), 'Victim' (victim support, home security) and 'Offender' (mentoring, drugs outreach, targeted operations, anti social behaviour officers etc).

Services covering all sectors and all areas of the strategy have been co-ordinated in a central, accessible location, providing a focal point for community safety and neighbourhood management and a base for the introduction of neighbourhood policing in the area. The NDC funded 'Community Safety Premises' has developed into the town's 'central area base' fromwhich these activities are, and will continue to be, delivered into the future. Community empowerment - through the identification of local issues and resident's concerns - is central to the effectiveness of the approach through the working of the NAP and NDC Neighbourhood Panel. Evidence of the success of this mode of service delivery in addressing crime and community safety issues is clear...

Since 2001, overall crime has fallen in the NDC area from 239 crimes per '000 population down to 168. As a result, the gap in the number of crimes between the NDC area and Hartlepool as a whole has successfully been narrowed, from 70% down to 49%. House burglary also shows significant reductions. There were 81 burglaries per '000 households in the NDC area in 2001 but this had fallen to 29 by 2008, with this fall also contributing to a notew orthy decrease town-wide (from 42 burglaries per '000 households down to just 13).

The number of incidents of anti social behaviour has also declined. The gap between the NDC area and Hartlepool in the number of reported anti social incidents has narrow ed by 27 percentage points, from 76% in 2001 down to 49% in 2008. Data supplied by the fire service also shows a 59.6% reduction in fires in the NDC area between 2004/5 and 2008/9. Collectively, these reductions in crime and disorder have led to increased feelings of safety among residents. MORI household survey data shows that those reporting feeling very or fairly safe alone at night has increased from 39% in 2002 to 45% in 2008.

3.5 Housing and Environment Theme

The Housing and Environment Strategy has been about making the area safe, healthy, clean and attractive. It sought to encourage people to stay in the area, essentially by addressing four key things; firstly, by stabilising values and turnover; secondly, by increasing levels of

5.3 Appendix 1

satisfaction (with the area generally and with public spaces); thirdly, by improving housing quality; and fourthly, by reducing problems with private rented sector properties. It was known that a significant intervention was needed to halt the spiral of decline. As a priority, the strategy needed to determine, early, whether and to what extent housing clearance was appropriate and it had to do this by involving the community, providing appropriate support and incentives to residents.

One of the most extensive resident participation exercises ever conducted in the region took place over an 18-month period. Over 80 street workshops were held involving over 2000 residents, as well as a range of other events. 1500 households participated in 60 street ballots resulting in the Community Housing Plan, launched in 2003. This Plan was radical and had the clear support of the majority of residents. It has been amended since, for various reasons, but community consent remains and it is the bedrock of the housing strategy. Under this plan, 422 older houses have been demolished and 176 houses are built or in the process of being built (80 completed to summer 2009). Two further key sites are in the process of being acquired for development. In Belle Vue, 80% of houses have been acquired and a preferred developer appointed to build in the order of 100 new homes for sale and rent. In the wider Rodney Street area, 35% of homes have been acquired and partial demolition of the area has already taken place.

Almost all of the other residents preferences expressed in the Plan, (eg for greater security, traffic calming, grant opportunities) have been addressed. The Community Housing Plan, despite pulling no punches about the shortage of the funding necessary for implementation, has been a successful, working document for six and half years. It was always designed to complement and be part of the local authority's housing renew all and environment plans, and it has been integrated into these strategies thus ensuring a continued focus on the NDC area.

Alongside the visible and tangible regeneration of the area through improved housing stock, the impact of the Community Housing Plan and NDC Housing and Environment strategy is also demonstrated by MORI household survey data. The Neighbourhood Management project established the 'Safer Cleaner Greener' initiative to address day-to-day neighbourhood environmental issues and these initiatives coupled with actions under the Community Housing Plan have turned the area round.

Since 2001 the number of residents satisfied with the area as a place to live has increased from 51% to 71%. Furthermore, a range of neighbourhood and environmental issues that were identified by residents at the start of the NDC programme as either a problem or a serious problem in the area have been addressed such that fewer residents are now concerned about them. Perceptual indicators from the MORI household survey show that the number of residents citing household burglary as a problem has reduced by 40 percentage points from 63% to 23%; those perceiving vandalism, graffiti and property damage to be a problem or a serious problem has fallen by 22 percentage points to 45%; perceptions of drug dealing and use as a problem has fallen by 19 percentage points to 52%; car crime is down by 25 percentage points to 31%; disturbances from crowds or gangs has fallen by 15% to 46%; concerns about run down or boarded up properties is down by 20 percentage points to 35%; and the proportion of residents who think property being set on fire is a problem has dropped by 18 percentage points from 29% to 11%.

A recent NDC project to be approved is a grants/loans scheme to provide 'facelifts' and 'general improvements' to ow ner-occupied houses in the area. This contributes to the strategic objective of improving housing quality while also providing incentives for owner-occupiers to stay.

The NDC work in running voluntary landlord registration schemes has led to a successful application by the local authority to establish a landlord-licensing scheme in the most challenging parts of the area, which will go on to reduce private rented sector problems.

Significant and visible improvements in the NDC area have already been achieved. Further, the local authority's housing and environment strategies will continue to deliver the CHP, while improved community empowerment mechanisms will enable residents to effectively identify local and environmental problems and concerns in the future.

3.6 Community Development and Inclusion

Building a stronger community was essential not only in terms of effective delivery of the NDC programme, but also in terms of laying the foundations for succession and sustainability. At the start of the programme there was only one local residents group active in the area and little history of community development activity.

The NDC strategy has focussed on providing better community facilities, capacity building and financial inclusion.

An early Flagship Project was achieved with the £1.6m extension of the Belle Vue Centre, run by local residents. Local resource centres were established and community buildings have been improved. There are now 10 active resident associations in the area and the Moneywise Credit Union, based in the NDC area, has expanded its membership from 120 NDC residents in 2001 to 4100 adult and 1680 junior members currently.

Impressive increases in people feeling they could influence services in the area were achieved at the time of the Community Housing Planning process, rising from 22% in 2001 to 30% in 2004. In addition, a sustained increase has occurred in the number of residents being involved in voluntary work, from 11% in 2001 to 15% in 2008. The proportion of residents that think the NDC has improved the area a great deal or fair amount has risen from 25% at the start of the programme to 52% in 2008, and those who report feeling a part of the local community a great deal or a fair amount has risen by 9 percentage points from 35% in 2001 to 44% in 2008.

The 'Culture and Leisure' and 'Strengthening Communities' sections of the NDC Neighbourhood Action Plan ensure a continued focus on these issues in the NDC area through the LSPs' NAP process and through the NDC Neighbourhood Panel.

3.7 Children and Young People

Clearly, children and young people benefit from activity across all the preceding areas. How ever Hartlepool NDC took a decision to establish a dedicated theme in order to focus attention on their needs and enable effective involvement of young people.

The NDC strategy has involved developing new activities, establishing a state of the art youth project/café/internet facility, enabling youth participation and developing new play facilities. New play areas have been developed at Burn Valley Gardens and Lynnfield School. The latter involves an innovative partnership with Lynnfield School. Safe play spaces have been created by alley gating and by the creation of a park in Thornton Street. A youth forum has been established and the Café 177 project is seen as a 'centre for youth democracy' in the town.

Findings from MORI household survey data show that since the baseline survey conducted in advance of the NDC programme in 2000, significant increases in satisfaction have been reported over a range of indicators. The proportion of residents that are very and fairly satisfied with children's play areas has increased from 10% to 47%, satisfaction with youth and community centres has also improved, from 16% to 76%. Similarly, satisfaction with

sports clubs and facilities has risen from 39% to 74%, and satisfaction with public parks and open spaces has increased from 53% to 62%.

A consequence of the improved opportunities now available to children and young people in the area is that the proportion of residents reporting teenagers hanging round the streets to be a problem has fallen from 74% in 2002 to 59% in 2008; a fall of 15 percentage points. As with other theme areas, ongoing attention will be given to issues affecting children and young people through the NAP process, as well as through the young people's consultation and participation mechanisms that have been established.

4. Hartlepool NDC Succession Strategy

As set out in the introduction to this report, the anticipated need for a succession strategy was first outlined in March 2001. The strategy was further discussed in detail by the Partnership in 2003 when deliberations on the delivery vehicle for implementation of the Community Housing Plan were taking place. When Hartlepool Revival was launched in May 2003 its long-termaim was defined as forming part of the NDC succession strategy.

Deliberations on Neighbourhood Management started in earnest in 2002, and a feasibility study was completed in 2003. The current Neighbourhood Management project was subsequently approved in April 2005.

The detailed NDC Succession Strategy was approved by the Partnership in December 2006 and set out three interconnected main elements. These would work together to focus on regeneration issues, to empower residents, and to sustain the improved partnership working that has been developed. The 3 elements are:

• Neighbourhood Management and Community Empowerment

Neighbourhood management is the key vehicle for ensuring residents are effectively engaged in prioritising local issues and that services are delivered in a co-ordinated way that is responsive to local needs. This includes the provision of ongoing support to local community groups and leaders (see Appendix 3.)

• NDC Successor Body

The successor body, the Hartlepool NDC Trust and its trading subsidiary companies (currently Hartlepool Revival) will own and manage assets on behalf of the local community; attract further resources for regeneration and develop projects and social enterprises to further the regeneration of the area. Whilst the Trust is modest in scale compared to the original £53.7 million NDC Programme, and with only a relatively small asset base at the outset, it will work to complement the Neighbourhood Management process by continuing to contribute to the original objectives of the NDC Programme.

• Building the capacity of key voluntary and community sector organisations

These organisations will be important in terms of delivering additional services across all strategy theme areas and beyond the life of the NDC Programme.

A brief description of progress in these three areas is set out below:

4.1 Neighbourhood Management & Community Empowerment

The NDC Neighbourhood Management project was established in 2005. It was designed within the grain of the LSP Neighbourhood Renewal Strategy and the Local Authority Town Care Management Structure, and it has become embedded in LSP processes such that it forms the central plank of NDC succession in terms of empowering local residents and shaping local services to address the regeneration challenges that remain in the area (see Appendix 3.)

5.3 Appendix 1

The project is focused on the Community Safety Office (premises at the heart of the NDC area which are owned by the NDC Successor Body). The office provides a base for a wide range of services coordinated by the Neighbourhood Manager and the local Police Sergeant. Currently services located at the office include: Neighbourhood Policing Team (including PCSO's), Neighbourhood Manager, Community Development Workers, Anti Social Behaviour Officers, Crime Prevention Adviser and Victim Support Worker.

The strategy for the team is set by a Neighbourhood Action Plan, developed by residents and other stakeholders and monitored by a Neighbourhood Panel comprising local resident representatives and Ward Councillors. The Panel, in addition to influencing mainstream services, has a dedicated budget under its control.

The terms of reference for the neighbourhood panel (Appendix 2) sets out how local residents will be involved and empowered. In addition to including any residents already elected to the NDC partnership and the Council's Consultative Forum, the main formal route for resident engagement is through nomination as a representative of a constituted residents association.

There are currently 11 formally constituted residents associations in the NDC area (14 in the wider succession area) and these groups receive support from the Borough Council (Neighbourhood Development officers), Hartlepool Voluntary Development Agency, and the NDC capacity building project.

Formally 'writing in' residents associations into the terms of reference has helped to strengthen and legitimise their role at the neighbourhood level and strengthen the quality of partnerships, especially with local ward councillors and service providers.

Day to day operations are directed via the Neighbourhood Manager through Joint Action Groups and weekly priority meetings.

The project's success and impact has been clearly demonstrated through local evaluation and has been recognised recently when it was chosen as one of 12 national 'exemplar' sites of best practice by the Police Improvement Board.

The project has informed the further development of Neighbourhood Management by the Council across the town as described in the draft Neighbourhood Management Strategy currently under consideration by the Council. Hartlepool Council has already mainstreamed the Neighbourhood Manager post, and along with the Police contribute to annual running costs for the project. There is a full commitment by the Council to mainstream the project post 2011.

4.2 Successor Body

As previously described, Hartlepool Revival Ltd. was established in 2003, and since then it has purchased and managed assets on behalf of the NDC Partnership. In December 2006 the NDC Partnership agreed to explore the feasibility of establishing a charitable trust, which would own Hartlepool Revival Ltd as a trading subsidiary, and would 'lock in' assets to the local community.

Following that feasibility work, the Trust (Hartlepool NDC Trust) was successfully launched at a meeting involving over 60 local stakeholders in February 2008. Later that year the Trust was formally registered with Companies House and the Charities Commission.

The Trust secured the services of a leading commercial law firm Muckle IIp to advise them on company structure and to assist in the registration of the Trust as both a company and a charity. Our law yer has ensured that the Trust Memorandum of Association contains the

5.3 Appendix 1

necessary "asset lock", which ensures that the assets of the Trust can only be used to further its charitable objects. In order to allow the Trust to pursue trading activities that will support the regeneration objectives of the Trust, whilst still allowing the Trust the benefits of charitable status, these activities are undertaken through Hartlepool Revival, a company limited by guarantee, that is wholly owned by the Trust, who are its only member and appoint all its directors.

The assets of the Trust are, therefore, in the ownership of Hartlepool Revival and the asset lock which secures the assets of the Trust for the future benefit of the NDC area also applies to Hartlepool Revival, because the board of Hartlepool Revival require the specific permission of the Trust Board if they wish to transfer assets of a value greater than £5000. As the charity can only act to further its objects if they are asked to approve a transfer they must ensure that it complies with the asset lock clauses in their Memorandum of Association. The company could transfer assets for less than the stated amount but the directors have a duty to act in the best interests of the charity and would not be doing this if transferred assets at an undervalue. Therefore, the charity would be able to challenge a decision. Secondly, the objects of the trading company are linked to those of the charity. The directors of the trading company are under a duty to act in the best interest of the company and in accordance with its objects and therefore would not be able to act in a way which is detrimental to the charity.

Our lawyer has given us the specific advice that, in her opinion all concerns, about asset transfer are met through these clauses.

The asset base of the Trust is relatively limited and will generate only a moderate level of income. This is largely due to the nature of housing issues in Hartlepool, where capital investment has needed to be focussed on buying housing for demolition, and then recycling land receipts to bridge the significant funding gap in the Community Housing Plan. There have not, therefore, been the same opportunities as available to some other NDC's, to invest in land and property on a larger scale to generate significant projected income for their successor bodies.

How ever the Trustees of the successor body, made up predominantly of local residents and other stakeholders who have been involved in the delivery of the NDC programme, have established a clear vision of how from this relatively modest base, a sustainable and relevant development trust can be established and developed.

Progress has already been made in securing resources from the NDC programme in order to support the employment of a dedicated NDC trust development worker until March 2011 and to assist with establishing an office base for the Trust.

The NDC trust has worked with the DTA and local support networks to assist with its establishment. It has been developed to be a democratic and accountable organisation that will remain rooted in the community it serves. The Trust's main functions are:

- To continue to support regeneration initiatives in the area, with particular focus on the objectives of the Community Housing Plan
- To develop sustainable community enterprise activity supporting the aims of the NDC programme
- To provide funds and support for community empowerment in the NDC area
- To provide a 'voice' for the area

The Trustees have developed a robust business plan within this context and that plan is appended to this report. (Appendix 4.)

4.3 Key Voluntary Organisations

The importance and potential of the community and voluntary sector to deliver sustainable change in the area has always been prominent in Hartlepool NDC's strategy development. Significant elements of the programme have been directly delivered by voluntary sector organisations. There are, however, a number of organisations which are particularly important in terms of NDC succession, in their capacity to deliver programmes beyond 2011. This section briefly sets out the role of 5 key organisations.

The NDC strategy has been to assist these five projects through capital investments (including recently approved 'sustainability' grants) and strategic support to be in as strong position as possible in relation to sustainability as the NDC programme draws to a close.

The Belle Vue Centre

The Belle Vue Centre had been developed in 1985 as a small sports hall project, by local residents aligned to a Workingmen's Club in one of the most disadvantaged neighbourhoods in Hartlepool. The project was initially developed as a community response to chronic youth unemployment and lack of local facilities.

By 2001 the Centre had become well established, expanded its range of activities, and convinced the NDC Partnership that it had the capacity to radically expand its activities, delivering a wider range of services, whilst retaining its community led ethos. At that time the Centre employed four staff.

Currently the Belle Vue Centre comprises one of the best equipped facilities in the subregion with sports, training, conference, catering and youth facilities, and employs over 90 paid staff (32 full time and 60 part-time) and 50 volunteers. It delivers services across all strategic theme areas with a focus on health, sport, family support, children and young people and training.

Whilst the wide range of projects is dependant on an even wider range of funders and commissioners, the Centre does not now rely on core revenue support from NDC and has a sustainable business plan. Last year the Centre attracted over 100,000 visits and has gained national recognition for its ability to reach disadvantaged groups. It will continue to deliver a series of cross-cutting regeneration aims through the range of projects delivered at the centre, in keeping with the identified objectives for the area.

Hartlepool Youth Ltd (Café 177)

Hartlepool Youth Ltd was established primarily to develop and deliver the Café 177 Youth Project for 12-19 year olds. The project was established in 2004 and now delivers services from a superb facility in a town centre location in partnership with a range of cross sector organisations. The board has been recently strengthened and a new vision agreed. Post NDC funding remains a challenge for the project and currently further bids are being pursued, and existing partnerships strengthened, to ensure sustainability. Once this issue is resolved, the project will continue in the future to operate as a centre for youth participation and democracy, as well as providing a range of diversionary and leisure activities for young people.

The Salaam Centre

The Salaam Centre is a resource centre, which provides advice, training, and capacity building activities targeted at the BME communities. Hartlepool's BME population is relatively small, but is growing in number and diversity. The majority of Hartlepool's BME population live in the NDC area.

The project was established in 2001 and is managed by a community interest company made up of local residents, mainly from BME communities. The project is due to relocate to larger refurbished premises in April 2010, enabling a greater range of services to be

developed. A recent evaluation has assisted in outlining a way forward for the project to ensure it is best placed to respond to the changing needs of local communities, and to work with potential partner agencies (including by providing commissioned services). As such, it will continue to promote equality and diversity issues, and contribute to increased social cohesion in the area.

Hartlepool MIND

Initial surveys indicated very high levels of people suffering stress, anxiety and mental health problems in the NDC area. An early partnership was established with Hartlepool MIND (who at that time were a very small organisation employing two people), and a range of projects were developed and delivered.

Hartlepool MIND has provided new ways of working with local residents that have achieved significant (and in some cases dramatic) positive results. This work has been recognised at a regional and national level and has attracted funding (through the PCT and Local Authority) to expand its work. The organisation now employs 85 staff and in the last year it worked with a caseload of around 1300 local people.

NDC funding and support enabled this growth to the current position where the future of the services is secure through being commissioned by the PCT/Council. This significantly strengthened organisation is therefore now much better positioned to continue to address the health inequalities of the area which have proved to be extremely difficult to impact upon thus far.

Hartlepool People Ltd. (The Peoples Centre)

The Peoples Centre has operated since 1983 from a former Police Station (a relatively dilapidated building), delivering a range of services focussing on some of the most marginalised groups, in Hartlepool (e.g. drug users). NDC initially provided revenue and capital support to assist with staffing and minor refurbishment.

More significantly, NDC has assisted the project to access a £1m grant from the Government's Asset Transfer Fund to fully refurbish the building. Crucial to this was the support of a loan from Hartlepool Revival, which enabled Hartlepool People to purchase the building and release that grant, thus ensuring future sustainability. This security will enable the project to continue to offer a wide range of support services to clients that otherwise often fall through the gaps of existing service provision.

5. Government Criteria

The Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG) has set out eight criteria against which they will assess NDC succession strategies before giving their approval. This section comments on the Hartlepool NDC succession strategy in relation to each of these criteria.

Criterion 1: Outcomes to be delivered should be appropriate for the NDC area.

The Neighbourhood Action Plan (NAP), described earlier, establishes the priority outcomes to be delivered in the area, and their relationship to priorities set out in the Local Area Agreement and Community Strategy. The NAP is monitored by the Neighbourhood Panel, which is comprised of local residents (from a variety of sources, including residents associations) and ward councillors.

The NAP sets out the current social and economic conditions in the NDC area and identifies clear priorities and actions relating to these conditions across all of the thematic areas of the NDC Programme.

5.3 Appendix 1

NAP delivery is coordinated and led by the Neighbourhood Manager. The NAP is agreed by local residents (at a community conference) and by other stakeholders. The NAP is then endorsed by the LSP. The written NDC NAP was formally endorsed by the LSP in March 2007. This NAP is included as an Appendix. The new NAP, involving a broad consultation process with local residents and stakeholders, has been commenced and, with a scheduled completion in March 2010, is to be a 5 year document with an annual refresh.

The key organisations responsible for taking forward regeneration in the area all feature strong local representation and networking, helping to ensure that they focus on appropriate outcomes. The NDC Trust and Hartlepool Revival Boards are comprised of a majority of local residents. All of these residents have extensive knowledge of the needs of the area and experience of delivering regeneration outcomes through involvement in the NDC partnership. Other Trustees comprise local business people and those with extensive experience of the community sector and economic development, with links across a range of local organisations and partnerships.

All the five key voluntary organisations outlines in section 4.3 are based in the NDC area and are governed by Boards of Trustees which include NDC residents.

Appendix 8, on project sustainability, identifies how NDC funded projects will continue, or how benefit will be sustained. The report demonstrates that there are robust proposals to continue at least 55 NDC funded projects beyond 2011.

Criterion 2: The community should continue to be empowered and leaders supported. The succession strategy for Hartlepool NDC has been developed by local resident leaders working alongside other stakeholders. The main vehicle for involving and empowering the local community is through the Neighbourhood Management process, and specifically through the Neighbourhood Panel.

The Neighbourhood Panel provides a direct link between Resident Groups at a Neighbourhood level and the town's strategic decision making processes.

The Neighbourhood Panel terms of reference outline how a majority of voting members will be local residents. The Hartlepool NDC Trust has a board of directors currently comprising ten local residents and one local business person. The board are currently undergoing an exercise to determine skills requirements before embarking on widening membership. This process will be lead by local resident Board members.

Local resource and Community Centres are central to ensuring that voices of the "harder to reach" groups will continue to be heard. Most specifically the Salaam Centre will enable effective BME engagement and Café 177 is now established as a "Centre for democracy and participation" for young people in the town. A dedicated NDC youth forum will continue to be supported by the Neighbourhood Management Team and will link directly with the Neighbourhood Panel and Action Planning Process.

Hartlepool Council has mainstreamed a post to provide community development support under the Neighbourhood Manager. Hartlepool Voluntary Development Agency (HVDA) continue to support community empow erment and leadership.

In the medium term the NDC Trust are to establish a community investment/grant fund to enable community empowerment.

Criterion 3: Responsibilities for project continuation / mainstreaming should be agreed with the Local Authority and other partners.

The attached Project Sustainability Matrix (Appendix 8) outlines sustainability arrangements for all projects and activities funded throughout the NDC Programme. The Matrix has been shared with and agreed by all identified delivery partners.

Projects coloured in dark green are those where arrangements are clearly agreed with responsible bodies.

Those highlighted in light green are projects which were generally not designed to continue beyond the life of the NDC Programme, but where project benefits are sustained.

Those highlighted in yellow are projects where work on sustainability is ongoing with responsible bodies and relevant stakeholders.

Hartlepool NDC has established an extremely effective internal evaluation team; supported by an independent evaluation panel. Over the past five years the team has produced 102 detailed project and theme evaluations. Each evaluation explores in detail specific issues around project or activity sustainability and makes appropriate recommendations to project sponsors and mainstream service providers.

This process of clearly establishing local outcomes has been instrumental in securing commitment to continuation of activities across all theme areas as outlined in the project sustainability plan. Appendix 13 shows key partners endorsement of the NDC succession strategy.

Criterion 4: NDC assets should be safeguarded into the long term.

The NDC Successor Body, the NDC Trust, was registered as a Company Limited by Guarantee in June 2008 and as a Charity in July 2008. The Memorandum and Articles of Association are compliant with DCLG succession guidance and contain clauses to ensure that assets and benefits are locked into the area.

The area of benefit for the NDC Trust outlined in the memorandum and articles is defined as 'Central Hartlepool'. This area includes all of the NDC area, but is not coterminous with existing NDC boundaries.

The Hartlepool NDC boundary has never really made a great deal of sense at a local level. The main driver in deciding the boundary in 2001 was the need to cover as much of the area of older housing around the town centre as possible, whilst keeping the total number within Government guidance levels. The resulting area cuts across several 'real' neighbourhoods, and includes parts of four wards. The key issues affecting the NDC area equally affect some of those surrounding neighbourhoods, especially those characterised by similar terraced house types.

In terms of maximising the potential to work with partners, and within the grain of how the Hartlepool Partnership (LSP) and Local Authority design and deliver services, it makes sense to relax the NDC boundary post 2011 to include other neighbourhoods.

Their inclusion, encompassed in the description of 'Central Hartlepool' in the NDC Trust Memorandum and Articles, is supported by the NDC Partnership and key partners.

The existing NDC area will make up around 86% of the expanded Central Hartlepool area, and therefore is consistent with most recent Government guidance which states that... "We expect the area covered by the succession strategy will predominantly be the NDC area." (Programme note 44).

The plans attached at Appendix 10 illustrate the additional areas described above. They predominantly comprise older terraced housing directly adjacent to the current NDC boundary and are within the ward boundaries which currently make up the NDC area.

If this wider 'Central Hartlepool' area was not adopted as the succession area there is a risk that key partners would find it more difficult to engage with and respond to the key successor bodies i.e. Neighbourhood Panel and NDC Trust.

Criterion 5: Governance arrangements support the objectives and the succession plans.

- (a) The Neighbourhood Panel terms of reference are appended to this report at Appendix 2. They demonstrate the relationship between the local authority and local resident members. The NAP demonstrates the commitment of partner agencies to the process; to ensuring ongoing and effective resident representation in shaping and commenting upon the services they receive.
- (b) The Hartlepool NDC Trust has been developed with the support of the local authority. Hartlepool Revival Ltd (the Trust's trading subsidiary) has a place on its Board prescribed for the local authority. This was, until mid-2009, occupied for 5 years by the town's directly-elected Mayor, Stuart Drummond, who has been elected for a third term. However, following a change in portfolio responsibilities within the Council's Cabinet, the new portfolio holder for regeneration, Councillor Pamela Hargreaves, will assume this responsibility. She has considerable, varied, experience of aspects of the NDC programme and is a serving member of the Partnership Steering Group.

The Trust Board conducted an internal skills audit in July 2009 and has reviewed skills required for effective progression of the Business Plan. A Development Programme has been designed in response to the audit and four places on the Board have been reserved to recruit to meet skills gaps. The Trust Business Plan (Appendix 4) describes this in further detail.

Criterion 6: The risks to the succession strategy should be properly identified and managed.

Two risk registers are appended to this report. The succession strategy risk register (Appendix 7) describes the general, political, economic and commercial risks to successful progression and delivery of the overall strategy and its main elements. The NDC Trust Business Plan (Appendix 4) contains a Risk Register pertaining to the successor body and its trading subsidiary.

Criterion 7: The strategy must be agreed by the local authority and supported by local partners.

Hartlepool NDC has been proud of its good working relationship with the Local Authority and other partners. The Local Authority, through elected members and a senior officer, has been directly involved in every monthly meeting of the Partnership Steering Group since 2000.

The NDC Trust's trading subsidiary, Hartlepool Revival, has a place on its board reserved for a representative of the Local Authority, with paragraph a) of Criterion 5, above, providing more detail.

Regular NDC reports are presented to the Hartlepool Partnership (LSP) and the NDC Director has been a member of the LSP since 2001. Other NDC Steering Group Members (residents and officers) sit on the LSP in different capacities. The succession strategy has been presented for approval to the Cabinet of Hartlepool Borough Council. A full presentation of the strategy has also been made to the Hartlepool Partnership.

The endorsement of the local authority and key partners is formally demonstrated in Appendix 13.

Criterion 8: The successor vehicle must be financially independent into the long term. The attached business plan for the Hartlepool NDC Trust (Appendix 4) sets out how it will be viable over the next 10 year period.

State Aid and other issues: The NDC Partnership have considered the implications of State Aid and are not aw are of any issues. All grant applications are subject to consideration in respect of EU State Aid rules by HBC officers.

No pension liabilities will remain from the NDC Programme

6. Conclusion

Hartlepool NDC has made a significant contribution to the regeneration of the town over the past 9 years. Many more people are satisfied with the area as a place to live and the way services are provided. The physical improvements and new facilities are clearly visible and have made a real impact. The capacity and potential of local residents and the community sector have been clearly developed and highlighted. High quality partnerships and trusting relationships have been established between residents and a wide range of stakeholders.

Big challenges still remain. These are clearly highlighted in the Neighbourhood Action Plan for the area. This succession strategy sets out how the Hartlepool NDC area is in a strong position to sustain the improvements made since 2001, to build on the success outlined above and to meet the challenges involved in creating a sustainable community where people want to live long into the future.

CABINET REPORT

5 October 2009



Report of: The Mayor

Subject: CHILDREN IN NEED, NORTH EAST EVENT AT

HARTLEPOOL MARITIME EXPERIENCE ON 20

NOVEMBER 2009

SUMMARY

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

To request financial support from the Mayoral Reserve to assist delivery of the BBC Children in Need event in Hartlepool.

2. SUMMARY OF CONTENTS

The background to a Children in Need evening is outlined, the nature of the event and the scope to showcase a variety of local talent.

3. RELEVANCE TO CABINET

A national profile event, planned at short notice and requiring modest funding contribution.

4. TYPE OF DECISION

Non key

5. DECISION MAKING ROUTE

Cabinet - 5 October 2009

6. DECISION(S) REQUIRED

A request for funding upto a maximum of £5000 is sought to be expended from the Mayoral reserve.

Report of: The Mayor

Subject: CHILDREN IN NEED, NORTH EAST EVENT AT

HARTLEPOOL MARITIME EXPERIENCE ON 20

NOVEMBER 2009

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To request financial support from the Mayoral Reserve to assist delivery of the BBC Children in Need event in Hartlepool

2. BACKGROUND

- 2.1 Hartlepool Borough Council has been approached by the BBC to host the North-East leg of their annual Children In Need appeal at Hartlepool Maritime Experience on 20th November 2009. In the past three years the event has been held at:
 - 2008 The Sunderland Aquatic Centre.
 - 2007 Reghed Centre, Cumbria.
 - 2006 The Sage, Gateshead.
- 2.2 The Hartlepool Maritime Experience will be a live venue between 6.00 p.m. to 10.00 p.m.

3. WHAT IT MEANS FOR HARTLEPOOL

- 3.1 There are usually three or four regional opt outs lasting four/five minutes out of the main show in London. This means we will been seen by over half-a-million North-East viewers every hour at prime time evening viewing slots.
- 3.2 This is a good opportunity to highlight the Hartlepool Maritime Experience and to raise money locally; furthermore it is a great opportunity to promote Tall Ships 2010.
- 3.3 The evening is hosted by BBC Look North & BBC Tees presenters, additional filming will take place in the week leading up to the event giving added publicity and the Pudsey Bear brand will attract people into the venue.

4. WHAT HARTLEPOOL NEEDS TO DO

- Provide an entertainment programme for the evening event.
- Provide a stage area for presenting cheques and performance.
- Provide storage for set up equipment
- Health & Safety and crowd control during the event.
- Provide fundraising ideas and the chance to undertake fundraising and publicity stunts e.g. Mast climbing on HMS Trincomalee.

A programme of the event activities is attached at **Appendix 1**.

Cabinet – 5 October 2009 **6.1**

5. FUNDING REQUIRED

5.1 Whilst the event is a great coup for Hartlepool it is a necessity that to provide certain requirements which will cost money that neither the Maritime Experience nor the Event's budget has available.

- 5.2 Great effort has been put into securing performances and contributions without charge to the event and we are left with a technical requirement of stage, lighting and sound to do justice to the event.
- 5.3 Again your officers are seeking to minimise this cost due to the charitable nature of the event, however it is estimated that unavoidable costs for technical equipment and contributions could be upto £5,000.

6. RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1 A request for funding upto a maximum of £5,000 is sought to be expended from the Mayoral Reserve.

6.1 Appendix 1 Children in Need Programme - 20th November, 2009 at Hartlepool Maritime Experience

	Main Stage	Happening on the Quayside					9	Baltic Suite	Trincomalee	F	Fundraising Ideas			ıs		
6.00 pm - 6.30 pm	Tees Music Service Drumming															
6.30 pm - 6.45 pm	Peg Powler		om Rolfe	erformance								v		cters		(pai
6.45 pm - 7.00 pm	BBC Singers									tt)		Stocks/Pillories		d Characters		e attached)
7.00 pm - 7.30 pm	Northern School of Music				Performance		nance	iring	Characters	attachment)	st			ostumed	g	eas (se
7.30 pm - 8.00 pm	Dance Marathon					Sword Fencing	Mister Twister Performance	Cannon Firing		(see att	Climbing The Mast	Sponges at People in	Painting	with Co	Balloon Modelling	ising Id
8.00 pm - 8.30 pm	Sea Shanties			Roaring Mouse	Sword F	Twister	Musket & Ca	k Georgian	tivities	imbing	es at Po	Face P	s Taken	alloon N	Fundra	
8.30 pm - 9.00 pm	Top North East Female Vocalist Taylor Kay			Tom	Roarin		Mister	Musk	Pirate &	Sports Activities	Ö			Photographs Taken with Costumed	B	Hartlepool Coundl Fundraising Ideas (see
9.00 pm - 9.30 pm	Musicians Unlimited							O)		Throwing		ing Pho		rtlepool		
9.30 pm - 10.00 pm	The Runwells											Having		На		
10.00 pm	Fireworks Closing Event															

Children In Need Programme Additions & Fundraising Ideas from HBC staff

Sports programme

- 1. West View Climbing Tower (have agreed to do this, however waiting on Dominic to return from annual leave to discuss health and safety)
- 2. Cyber Coach to involve the crowds, possibly 50p a go with a group in fancy dress. (will need adequate space to deliver this)
- 3. Gymnastics- in the Marina room from 6pm till 7pm with hopefully Jet from the gladiators
- 4. Fencing with Alex Craig (UK Cadets number one champion) Display and possible interview if needed? 7pm till 8pm
- 5. Tug of war with reps from the various sports clubs.

HBC staff fundraising Ideas

- Administration staff from Hartfields to come to work in tutus or jeans and put donations in a bucket.
- Coffee morning in the main Hartfields building with cake stalls etc.
- Gill Widdowfield will stand and sing and say nursery rhymes for an hour.
- Sponsored walk from Hartfields to Seaton and back admin. Staff.
- Raffle for Annual Leave for HBC employees.
- Mast climbing @ HMS Trincomalee.
- Seaton Carew Youth Centre sponsored Bike Ride
- Seaton Carew Youth Centre bath of beans.
- English Martyrs School & Sixth form college

Events I have organised at present to take place are:

Bounce a thon (trampolines available at lunch time for 50p a go in the PE dept)

Staff coffee morning

Cake Sale Tombola Raffle

50p a go to play sports on the Nintendo Wii in the large hall
Other stalls such as name the bear, guess football scores and guess the number of
marbles

However, as I have mentioned the fact that it is taking place at the Historic Quay there have been many other suggestions of possible activities. These included a sponsored walk from the school around Hartlepool and ending at the Historic Quay, face painting and teachers going into the stocks and having sponges thrown at them.

Tall Ships Promotional/awareness raising:

- Banner from Trincomalee mast
- Pirate Treasure Hunt.
- Handing out promotional material (with Duke of Edinburgh)